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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ) No. 3:07-cr-00123-RRB-JDR

)
Plaintiff, )
) PLEA AGREEMENT
Vs. )
)
EUGENE GEORGE WARNER, )
)
Defendant. )
)

Unless the parties jointly inform the Court in writing

of any additional agreements, this document in its

entirety contains the terms of the plea agreement

between the defendant and the United States. This

agreement is limited to the District of Alaska; it does
not bind other federal, state, or local prosecuting

authorities,
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L TERMS OF AGREEMENT, FEDERAL RULE OF CRIMINAL

PROCEDURE 11, WAIVER OF CLAIM FOR ATTORNEY’S

FEES AND COSTS

A. Terms of Agreement

The defendant agrees to plead guilty to 1 count of the 36 count indictment
in this case. The United States agrees not to prosecute the defendant further for
any other offense related to the events that resulted in the charge contained in the
indictment. The parties are free to make sentencing recommendétions consistent
with this agreement. Any agreements the parties have on sentencing
recommendations and guideline applications are set forth in Section III. The
defendant will waive all rights to appeal the conviction and sentence imposed
under this agreement, and will waive all rights to collaterally attack the
conviction and sentence, except on the grounds of ineffective assistance of
counsel or the voluntariness of the plea.

B. Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11

Unless the parties otherwise inform the Court in writing, Federal Rule of
Criminal Procedure 11(c)(1)(A) and (B) will control this plea agreement. Thus,

the defendant may not withdraw from this agreement or the guilty plea if the

Court rejects the parties’ sentencing recommendations at the sentencing hearing.
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C.  Waiver of Claim for Attorney Fees and Costs

Because this is a negotiated resolution of the case, the parties waive any
claim for the award of attorney fees and costs from the other party.
IL.  CHARGES, ELEMENTS, FACTUAL BASIS, STATUTORY

PENALTIES AND OTHER MATTERS AFFECTING

SENTENCE, FORFEITURE

A. Charges

1. The defendant agrees to plead guilty to the following count of the
Second Superseding Indictment:

Count 1: Conspiracy to Defraud the United States, a violation of

Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

B. Elements

The elements of the charge to which the defendant is pleading guilty are as
follows:

1. The defendant agreed with one or more persons to the defraud the

United States with the purpose of impeding, impairing, obstructing, and

~ defeating the lawful functions of the Internal Revenue Service in the
ascertainment, computation, assessment, and collection of the revenue, that
is, income taxes, through deceit, craft, trickery and dishonest means;

2. The defendant became a member of the conspiracy knowing its

Plea Agreement Page 3 of 20 3:07-cr-00123-RRB-JDR



Case 3:07-cr-00123-RRB  Document 197  Filed 07/29/2009 Page 4 of 20

object and intending to help accomplish it;
3. One of the members of the conspiracy performed at least one overt

act for the purpose of carrying out the conspiracy.

Hammerschmidt v. United States, 265 U.S. 182, 188 (1924); United States v.

Klein, 247 F.2d 908, 915 (2d Cir. 1957); United States v. Caldwell, 989 F.2d

1056 (9th Cir. 1993).

C. Factual Basis

The defendant admits the truth of the allegations in Count 1 of the
indictment and the truth of the following statement, and the parties stipulate that
the Court may rely upon this statement to support the factual basis for the guilty

plea and for the imposition of the sentence:

The Internal Revenue Service assessed taxes, interest, and penalties against
defendant EUGENE G. WARNER for the years 1990 through 1998 in the amount

of approximately $500,000.

From on or about May 10, 2000, until on or about November 14, 2007, in
the District of Alaska, and elsewhere, Defendant EUGENE G. WARNER did
unlawfully and knowingly conspire, combine, confederate, and agree with
LORNA K. WARNER and with other individuals both known and unknown, to

defraud the United States for the purpose of impeding, impairing, obstructing, and
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defeating through deceit, craft, trickery and dishonest means the lawful functions
of the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) of the Treasury Department in the
ascertainment, computation, assessment, and collection of the revenue, that is,

income taxes.

In furtherance of the conspiracy, and to effect the objects thereof, the
following overt acts, among others, were committed by one or more of the

conspirators in the District of Alaska, and elsewhere:
1. Providing a Collection Information Statement for Wage Earners and

Self-Employed Individuals, Form 433-A, to the Internal Revenue Service
dated August 20, 2002, which form wasr signed under penalty of perjury by
EUGENE G. WARNER and which was not true, correct, and complete, in
that it omitted numerous assets owned by and under the control of the
defendants, including: real property located in Anchorage, Alaska and held
in the name KWOA-01-01; real property located at 1308 Kumukoa St.,
Hilo, Hawaii, held in the name of “KWQQ?”; real property located at 355
Kalanianaole St., Hilo, Hawaii, Orchid Manor, # 303, held in the name of
“USA TOMORROW?; real property located at 355 Kalanianaole St.,'Hilo,
Hawaii, Orchid Manor, # 306, held in the name of “WW BANKS”; Wells
Fargo Bank account #xxxxx359, in the name of “USA TOMORROW” ;
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Wells Fargo Bank account #xxxxxxx872, in the name of “WHRC 02-01";
Wells Fargo Bank account #xxxxxxx898, in the name of “NWH&R 03-
017”; Wells Fargo Bank account #xxxxxxx880, in the name of “KWQQ"™;
Wells Fargo Bank account #xxxxxxx864, in the name of “KWOA 01-01";

or any interest in accounts held at International Currency Limited.
2. Recording with the State of Alaska a sworn “COMMERCIAL

AFFIDAVIT” signed by EUGENE G. WARNER and LORNA K.
WARNER and dated December 17, 2003, stating that the defendants are
not “taxpayers” but are rather “nontaxpayers” and that as of December 28,
2003 the IRS will owe the defendants “ONE MILLION FIVE HUNDRED
THOUSAND U.S. DOLLARS plus interest in the amount of 25% apr
compounded daily beginning December 28, 2003, and continuing until paid
in full to Eugene & Kehaulani Warner as restitution and partial nontaxable

damages....”
3. Providing false sworn testimony by Defendant EUGENE G.

WARNER in a Section 341 Meeting of Creditors held on December 18,
2003 in his bankruptcy case, In Re: Eugene G. Warner, case number A03-
01147-DMD, by falsely swearing that he owned no property in Hawaii, and

that he had sold any previously owned rental property many years before,
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when in fact the defendant knew that he still owned real property in

Hawaii, and had not sold it.
4. Mailing correspondence to the IRS on or about November 14, 2007,

which included a copy of the original indictment in this case, and purported
to appoint Jos-eph Saladino of Boise, Idaho, as “fiduciary” responsible for
litigating the defendants’ tax liabilities. The correspondence asserted that
the defendants were formerly the “owners” who received and controlled the
income of the EUGENE G. WARNER and LORNA KEHAULANI
WARNER *“estates” and purported to assign receipt and control of their
income and liabilities to Saladino. Saladino was indicted in the District of

Oregon for tax crimes in December 2007.
D.  Penalties and Other Matters Affecting Sentence
1. Statutory Penalties

The statutory penalties applicable to the charges to which the defendant is
pleading guilty, based on the facts to which the defendant will admit in support of

the guilty plea, are as follows:
Count 1: Conspiracy, 18 U.S.C. § 371

1) 5 years imprisonment;
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2) a maximum $250,000 fine;
3) a $100 mandatory special assessment; and
4) three years of supervised release.

2. Other Matters Affecting Sentence

a. Conditions affecting the defendant’s sentence

The following conditions may also apply and affect the defendant’s
sentence: 1) pursuant to Comment 7 of U.S.S.G. § 5E1.2, the Court may impose
an additional fine to pay the costs to the government of any imprisonment and
supervised release term; 2) pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(f), unless otherwise
ordered, if the Court imposes a fine of more than $2,500, interest will be charged
on the balance not paid within 15 days after the judgment date; 3) upon violating
any condition of supervised release, a further term of imprisonment equal to the
* period of the supervised release may be imposed, with no credit for the time
already spent on supervised release; 4) the Court may order the defendant to pay

restitution pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3663 and U.S.S.G. § 5E1.1.
b.  Payment of Special Assessment

The defendant agrees to pay the entire special assessment in this case on

the day the Court imposes the sentence. All payments will be by check or money
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order, and are to be delivered to the Clerk of Court, United States District Court,

222 W. 7th Ave. Box 4, Rm. 229, Anchorage, AK 99513-7564.
C. Consequences of Feldny Conviction

Any person convicted of a federal felony offense may lose or be denied
federal benefits including any grants, loans, licenses, food stamps, welfare or
other forms of public assistance, as well as the right to own or possess any
firearms, the right to vote, the right to hold public office, and the right to sit on a
jury. Ifapplicable, any defendant who is not a United States citizen, may be
sﬁbject to deportation from the United States following conviction for a criminal
offense and will not be permitted to return unless the defendant specifically

receives the prior approval of the United States Attorney General.
E. Forfeiture
No asset forfeiture is contemplated in this case.
F. Restitution
No restitution is contemplated in this case.
/
/

//
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IIl. ADVISORY UNITED STATES SENTENCING GUIDELINES;
GUIDELINE APPLICATION AGREEMENTS; SENTENCING
RECOMMENDATIONS

A. ADVISORY UNITED STATES SENTENCING GUIDELINES

The Court must consult the advisory United States Sentencing Commission
Guidelines {U.S.8.G.] as well as the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 35 53(a) when
considering the sentence to impose. The U.S.S.G. do not establish the statutory
maximum or minimum sentence applicable to the offenses to which the defendantr
is pleading guilty. The U.S.S.G. are not mandatory and the Court is not bound to

impose a sentence recommended by the U.S.S.G.
B. Guideline Application Agreements

The parties have no agreements on any guideline applications unless set

forth below in this section.
1. Base Offense Level

The parties agree that the intended tax loss for purposes of relevant
conduct in this case is more than $400,000, but not more than $1,000,000,

resulting in a base offense level of 20. U.S.8.G. §§ 2T1 9(a)(1), 2T4.1(H).
//
I
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2. Acceptance of responsibility

Subject to the defendant satisfying the criteria set out in U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1
and the applicable application notes, the United States agrees to recommend the
defendant for a two level downward adjustment for acceptance of responsibility
and, if U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1(b) applies, to move for the additional one level
adjustment for acceptance of responsibility. If, at any time prior to imposition of
the sentence, the defendant fails to fully satisfy the criteria set out in U.S.S.G. §
3El.1, or acts in a manner inconsistent with acceptance of responsibility, the
United States will not make or, if already rﬁade, will withdraw this

recommendation and motion.
C. Sentencing Recommendations

The United States Probation Office will prepare the defendant’s pre-
sentence report in which it will include a recommended calculation of the
defendant’s sentence range under the U.S.S.G. Both the United States and the
defendant will have the opportunity to argue in support of or in opposition to the
guideline sentence range calculation the U.S.P.O. recommends, as well as present
evidence in support of their respective sentencing arguments. The parties are free
to recommend to the Court their respective positions on the appropriate sentence

to be imposed in this case based on the stipulated facts set forth in Section II C,
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any additional facts established at the imposition of sentence hearing, the
applicable statutory penalty sections, the advisory U.S.S.G., and the sentencing

factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553.

The United States agrees to recommend a term of imprisonment of 37
months in this case. The defendant will be free to argue for a lesser term,
including arguing for a term of home confinement to be substituted for a portion
of the sentence of imprisonment. The parties agree that defendant will receive

credit for the time he spent in custody prior to sentencing.

IV, WAIVER OF TRIAL, APPELLATE RIGHTS, AND
COLLATERAL ATTACK RIGHTS

A. Trial Rights

Being aware of the following, the defendant waives these trial rights:
-~ Ifpleading to an information, the right to have the charges
presented to the grand jury prior to entering the guilty plea;
-~ The right to a speedy and public trial by jury on the factual
issues establishing guilt or any fact affecting the mandatory
minimum and statutory penalties, and any issue affecting any

interest in any assets subject to forfeiture;
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-

Plea Agreement

The right to object to the composition of the grand or trial
jury;
The right to plead not guilty or to persist in that plea if it has

already been made;

The right to be presumed innocent and not to suffer any
criminal penalty unless and until the defendant’s guilt is

established beyond a reasonable doubt;

The right to be represented by counsel at trial and if necessary
to have a counsel appointed at public expense to represent the
defendant at trial -- the defendant is not waiving the right to
have counsel continue to represent the defendant during the

sentencing phase of this case;

The right to copfront and cross examine witnesses against the
defendant, and the right to subpoena witnesses to appear in the

defendant’s behalf;

The right to remain silent at trial, with such silence not to be
used against the defendant, and the right to testify in the

defendant’s own behalf: and
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- The right to contest the validity of any searches conducted on

the defendant’s property or person.
B. Appellate Rights

The defendant waives the right to appeal the conviction(s) resulting from
the entry of guilty plea to the charges set forth in this agreement. The defendant
further agrees that if the Court imposes a sentence that doés not exceed the
statutory maximum penalties— as set forth in section I D above in this
agreerﬁent, the defendant waives without exception the right to appeal on all
grounds contained in 18 U.S.C. § 3742 the sentence the Court imposes—
including forfeiture (if applicable) or terms or conditions of probation (if

applicable) or supervised release, and any fines or restitution.
C.  Collateral Attack Rights

The defendant agrees to waive all rights to collaterally attack the resulting
conviction(s) and/or sentence — including forfeiture (if applicable) or terms or
conditions of probation (if applicable) or supervised release, and any fines or
restitution — the Court imposes. The only exceptions to thié collateral attack
waiver are as follows: 1) any challenge to the conviction or sentence alleging
ineffective assistance of counsel -- based on information not now known to the

defendant and which, in the exercise of reasonable diligence, could not be known
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by the defendant at the time the Court imposes sentence; and 2) a challenge to the

voluntariness of the defendant’s guilty plea.
V.  ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS BY UNITED STATES

In exchange for the defendant’s guilty plea and the Court’s acceptance of
the defendant’s plea and the terms of this agreement, the United States agrees that
it will not prosecute the defendant further for any other offense -- now known --
arising out of the subject of the investigation related to the charges brought in the
indictment in this case and the defendant’s admissions set forth in Section II C.
Provided, however, if the defendant’s guilty plea is rejected, withdrawn, vacated,
reversed, or set aside, or if the defendant’s sentence is vacated, reversed, set
aside, or modified, at any time, in any proceeding, for any reason, the United
States will be free to prosecute the defendant on all charges arising out of the
investigation of this case including any charges dismissed pursuant to the terms
of this agreement, which charges will be automatically reinstated as well as for

perjury and false statements.
Pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(c)(1)(A), the United States agrees to move
to dismiss the remaining counts of the Second Superseding Indictment at the time

of sentencing.

1
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VI. ADEQUACY OF THE AGREEMENT

Pursuant to Local Criminal Rule 11.2 (d)(7) and (8), this plea agreement is
appropriate in that it conforms with the sentencing goals that would otherwise be
applicable to the defendant’s case if the defendant had gone to trial and had been

convicted on all counts in the charging instrument.

VII. THE DEFENDANT’S ACCEPTANCE OF THE TERMS OF THIS
PLEA AGREEMENT

I, EUGENE GEORGE WARNER, the defendant, affirm this document
contains all of the agreements made between me— with the assistance of my
attorney— and the United States regarding my plea. There are no other promises,
assurances, or agreements the United States has made or entered into with me that
have affected my decision to enter any plea of guilty or to enter into this
agreement. If there are any additional promises, assurances, or agreements, I and
the United States will jointly inform the Court in writing before I enter my guilty

plea.

I understand that no one, including my attorney, can guarantee the
outcome of my case or what sentence the Court may impose if I plead guilty. If

anyone, including my attorney, has done or said anything other than what is
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contained in this agreement, I will inform the Court when I stand before it to enter

my plea. If there were, I would so inform the Court.

I enter into this agreement understanding and agreeing that the conditions
set forth herein are obligatory and material to this agreement and that any failure
on my part to fulfill these obligations will constitute a material breach of this
agreement. If I breach this agreement, I agree the United States, in its sole
discretion, may withdraw from this agreement and may reinstate prosecution
against me on any charges arising out of the investigation in this matter. If my
compliance with the terms of this plea agreement becomes an issue, at an
appropriate hearing, during which I agree any of my disclosures will be
admissible, the Court will determine whether or not I have violated the terms of
this agreement. I understand the government’s burden to prove a breach will be

by a preponderance of the evidence.

['understand the Court will ask me under an oath to answer questions about
the offense to which I am pleading guilty and my understanding of this plea
agreement. I understand that I may be prosecuted if I make false statements or

give false answers and may suffer other consequences set forth in this agreement.

I have read this plea agreement carefully and understand it thoroughly. I
know of no reason why the Court should find me incompetent to enter into this
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agreement or to enter my plea. I enter into this agreement knowingly and
voluntarily. I understand that anything that I discuss with my attorney is
privileged and confidential, and cannot be revealed without my permission.

Knowing this, I agree that this document will be filed with the Court.

I am fully satisfied with the representation given me by my attorney and
am prepared to repeat this statement at the time I stand before the Court and enter
my guilty plea. My attorney and [ have discussed all possible defenses to the
charges to which I am pleading guilty. My attorney has investigated my case and
followed up on any information and issues I have raised to my satisfaction. My
attorney has taken the time to fully explain the legal and factual issues involved
in my case to my satisfaction. We have discussed the statutes applicable to my
offense and sentence as Well as the possible effect the U.S.S.G. may have on my

sentence.,

Based on my complete understanding of this plea agreement, I therefore

wish to enter a plea of guilty to Count 1 of the indictment.

DATED: 7-J&- 6% A rpnn_
E/GENE GEORGE"WARNER
Defendant
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As counsel for the defendant, I have discussed with the terms of this plea
agreement with the defendant, have fully explained the charge(s) to which the
defendant is pleading guilty and the necessary elements, all possible defenses,
and the consequences of a guilty plea to a felony. Based on these discussions, I
have no reason to doubt that the defendant is knowingly and voluntarily entering
into this agreement and entering a plea of guilty. I know of no reason to question
the defendant’s competency to make these decisions. If, prior to the imposition of
sentence, I become aware of any reason to question the defendant’s competency

to enter into this plea agreement or to enter a plea of guilty, I will immediately
inform the court,

DATED: 5‘[/[/\/ RF, A00 MAM

T]MOTHY DOOLEY
Attorney for Eugene George Warner
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On behalf of the United States, the following accept EUGENE GEORGE
WARNER'’S offer to plead guilty under the terms of this plea agreement.

patED: 1509 Oﬁ iﬂ(/l/(W _—

MAS C. BRADLEY
Assistant U.S. Attorney

J

patep: 1-2.8-06

CRANDON RANDELL
Assistant U.S. Attorney

DATED: %?é?
a4
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